**I. STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF PROCEEDING
AND NATURE OF THE RULING BELOW**

West Virginia National Auto Insurance Company (hereinafter "West Virginia National"), by and through its counsel, James A. Varner, Sr., Debra T. Herron, and Dana N. Bonnell, appeals the November 22, 2004 order of the Circuit Court of Cabell County, West Virginia, granting

summary judgment in favor of Stephanie Michelle Conley (hereinafter "Conley") in her third-party claim for declaratory judgment concerning issues of insurance coverage. The November 22, 2004 Order found that West Virginia National issued a policy to Conley and failed to properly cancel said policy in accordance with West Virginia Code § 33-6A-1(e)(7). West Virginia National respectfully submits that the circuit court erred in so concluding, because a policy of insurance was never issued to Conley in the first place and, thus, no notice of cancellation was required. More specifically, the check tendered by Conley in an attempt to pay her initial premium was dishonored by the drawee bank prior to issuance of any policy and, therefore, no consideration existed to support the creation of a contract of insurance. Accordingly, West Virginia National seeks relief on appeal, requesting that this Court reverse the lower court's decision and remand this matter to the circuit court for proceedings consistent with this Court's opinion.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 24, 2003, Dairyland Insurance Company (hereinafter "Dairyland") filed a complaint seeking to enforce its subrogation rights, alleging negligence on the part of Conley in connection with an automobile accident. Dairyland's complaint alleged that Dairyland's insureds, Benjamin Horton, Jr., Cheryl Horton, and Ashley Horton, had sustained bodily injuries as a result of an automobile accident which occurred on August 31, 2001. Dairyland's complaint further asserted that Dairyland had paid the sum of at least Twenty-Five Thousand Nine Hundred Six Dollars and Sixty-Six Cents (\$25,906.66) as compensation to its insured.

Conley filed an answer to Dairyland's complaint on September 12, 2003. In her answer, Conley denied that she had engaged in any negligent conduct in connection with the said automobile accident. Conley also filed a third party complaint for declaratory relief against West

Virginia National in order to obtain an adjudication of certain coverage issues involving a policy of insurance which West Virginia National supposedly issued to Conley. In her third party complaint, Conley claimed that there was an improper cancellation of this alleged West Virginia National policy. Specifically, Conley asserted that she applied for a policy on August 15, 2001; that a policy was issued to her on that same date; that fifteen (15) days later she was provided with a declaration page, certificate of insurance, and billing statement; and that by letter dated September 10, 2001, she was advised that her policy had been rescinded effective as of August 15, 2001.¹ West Virginia National filed an answer to the third party complaint on November 7, 2003, generally denying all of the allegations set forth therein.²

Conley filed a motion for summary judgment, along with a supporting memorandum of law, on May 28, 2004, arguing it was proper for the trial court to grant summary judgment in her favor in her declaratory judgment action.³ Conley asserted that West Virginia Code § 33-6A-1(e)(7) requires ten (10) days notice of cancellation and, further, that the same notice of cancellation is required by the terms and provisions of the West Virginia National policy which Conley claims issued to her.⁴

On July 15, 2004, West Virginia National filed a response to Conley's motion and memorandum, in which it submitted that the trial court should deny Conley's motion for summary

¹ See Third Party Complaint of Stephanie Michelle Conley.

² See West Virginia National Auto Insurance Company's Answer to Third Party Complaint.

³ See Motion for Summary Judgment of the Third Party Plaintiff.

⁴ *Id.*

judgment.⁵ Said response explained that Conley was not entitled to any notice of cancellation because no policy had ever been formed to begin with, due to a lack of consideration.⁶ More particularly, West Virginia National relied upon the case of Nationwide Mutual Insurance Co. v. Smith, 153 W.Va. 817, 172 S.E.2d 708 (1970), for the proposition that effective payment of initial insurance premiums is the consideration prerequisite to a valid policy of insurance.⁷

On August 19, 2004, Conley filed a reply to West Virginia National's response, asserting that West Virginia National's reliance on Nationwide was misplaced, as the case had been abrogated by the enactment of West Virginia Code § 33-6A-1(e)(7), notwithstanding the fact that the case was decided subsequent to the statute's enactment.⁸ Conley further argued that a policy was in fact issued to her and that the policy was not contingent upon whether her check for the premium payment was honored.⁹ Despite the lack of consideration, Conley pointed to documents furnished to her as evidence of the existence of a policy, including a billing statement which unequivocally indicated that coverage would be provided based upon timely payments of premiums.¹⁰ Conley also pointed to a September 10, 2001 letter from West Virginia National advising her that her policy had been rescinded, arguing that this letter signifies that a policy had to exist and that, once the policy

⁵ See Response of the Third Party Defendant, West Virginia National Auto Insurance Company, to Motion for Summary Judgment of the Third Party Plaintiff.

⁶ *Id.*

⁷ *Id.*

⁸ See Third Party Plaintiff Stephanie Michelle Conley's Response to Third Party Defendant West Virginia National Auto Insurance Company's Response to Motion for Summary Judgment.

⁹ *Id.*

¹⁰ *Id.*

issued, West Virginia National was obligated to comply with West Virginia Code § 33-6A, *et seq.*¹¹ Conley asserted that, because West Virginia National failed to provide proper notice of cancellation, her coverage was effective on August 31, 2001, the date of the aforementioned vehicle accident.¹²

Paragraph 15(b) of the policy of insurance which Conley alleges was in effect on the date of her accident, in the section entitled "Cancellation," provides as follows:

Cancellation by the Company of *a policy which has been in effect* for less than sixty (60) days: This policy may be canceled by the Company by mailing to the insured named in Item 1 of the declarations at the address shown in this policy, written notice stating when, not less than ten days thereafter, such cancellation shall be effective, provided that *the policy has been in effect* less than sixty (60) days and this is not a renewal policy. The policy may be canceled by the Company upon actual notice to the insured or by mailing notice of such cancellation.¹³

West Virginia Code § 33-6A-1(e)(7) provides that the cancellation of an *existing* insurance policy by an insurer for failure of consideration to be paid upon the initial issuance of the policy requires ten (10) days notice of cancellation to the insured. Thus, while such notice of cancellation is clearly required where a policy has been formed and some consideration other than a premium payment, such as the promise to pay, has been given, no such notice is required where no consideration was provided and no policy exists.

In the instant case, the application completed by Conley expressly indicated that if the premium remittance was not honored by the bank, then no coverage would be bound.¹⁴ Conley,

¹¹ *Id.*

¹² *Id.*

¹³ See West Virginia National Auto Insurance Company policy for which Conley submitted an application.

¹⁴ See insurance policy application submitted by Conley.

at the time of her application on August 15, 2001, attempted to pay to West Virginia National the sum of One Hundred Seventy-Four Dollars (\$174.00), as the *initial premium payment required prior to issuance of the policy of insurance*, by presenting to West Virginia National a check in that amount. However, said check was dishonored and returned due to insufficient funds. By letter dated September 11, 2001, West Virginia National notified Conley that her check had been returned for insufficient funds and advised her that she had no coverage as of August 15, 2001, as the result of non-payment of the premium.¹⁵ West Virginia National maintains that a policy was never issued due to a lack of consideration and, further, that the application clearly provides there will be no insurance coverage if the premium remittance is not honored by the bank.

The trial court found that West Virginia National issued a policy and subsequently failed to properly cancel the said policy and that, accordingly, the policy was in effect on the date of the automobile accident.¹⁶ Based upon these findings, on November 22, 2004, the trial court granted Conley's motion for summary judgment on the declaratory judgment action, concluding that West Virginia National owes a duty to defend and indemnify Conley in connection with the underlying automobile accident.¹⁷

III. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The circuit court erred in concluding that a policy of insurance was in effect at the time of the accident despite the undisputed fact that the check issued by Conley in payment of the

¹⁵ See letter from Julia L. Thomas, Underwriting Department at West Virginia National, to Conley dated September 11, 2001.

¹⁶ See Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Granting Summary Judgment.

¹⁷ *Id.*

initial premium required prior to issuance of a new policy of insurance was dishonored by the drawee bank due to insufficient funds upon presentment.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for summary judgment granted by the lower court is well established in West Virginia. As stated in syllabus point one of Mountain Lodge Association v. Crum & Forster Indemnity Co., 210 W. Va. 536, 558 S.E.2d 336 (2001), “‘A circuit court’s entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo.’ Syl. Pt. 1, Painter v. Peavy, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994).” In addition, the standard by which lower courts are to dispose of motions for summary judgment is clear. In syllabus point three of Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Federal Insurance Company of New York, 148 W. Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963), this Court explained, “[a] motion for summary judgment should be granted only when it is clear that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the law.” Further, in syllabus point two of Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W. Va. 52, 459 S.E.2d 329 (1995), this Court wrote, “[s]ummary judgment is appropriate if, from the totality of the evidence presented, the record could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to prove.” Just as the lower court must, this Court is to “draw any permissible inference from the underlying facts in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion.” Painter, 192 W. Va. at 192, 451 S.E.2d at 758.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Existing West Virginia Precedent Holds That Attempted Payment of an Insurance Premium By a Check Which is Subsequently Dishonored Does Not Constitute Payment Sufficient to Serve as Consideration for a Policy of Insurance

This Court has previously addressed the very question presented in this appeal, namely, whether attempted payment of an insurance premium by tender of a check which is subsequently dishonored due to insufficient funds constitutes payment sufficient to serve as consideration for a policy of insurance. Indeed, as early as 1934, this Court found a worthless check for a premium payment to be insufficient consideration for insurance coverage. Hare v. Connecticut Mutual Life Ins. Co., 114 W.Va. 679, 173 S.E. 772 (W.Va. 1934). The Hare decision was cited as authority in the more recent case of Nationwide Mutual Ins. Co. v. Smith, 153 W.Va. 817, 172 S.E.2d 708 (1970), as indicated below.

In Nationwide, the policy applicant tendered to the insurance company a check for the portion of the premium due at the time the policy was delivered. Said check was refused by the payor bank due to a lack of sufficient funds. The insurer was notified by the presenting bank that the payor bank had refused payment, and thereafter the insurer contacted the applicant to inform him that the check in payment of the premium had been returned. The check was presented for payment three times, and in each instance payment was refused for a lack of sufficient funds. Each time the payment was refused, the insurer notified the applicant of the non-payment and warned of policy cancellation. In holding that the tender of a dishonored check did *not* constitute payment of the premium, this Court wrote:

In *Hare v. Connecticut Mutual Life Insurance Company*, 114 W.Va. 679, 173 S.E. 772 [W.Va. 1934], this Court said: "The premium is the price of the insurance and payment of the premium is of the essence of the insurance contract. No payment – no insurance. A worthless check is not a payment of anything." In 14 Appleman, Insurance Law and Practice, Section 8144, the text, supported by numerous decisions, contains these statements: "***The mere giving or sending of a worthless check to the insurer does not effect the payment of a premium; the result being, if such check is given for the first premium, that coverage never goes into effect***, and if given for a subsequent premium, that the coverage is not thereby prevented from lapsing. In order for a worthless check to constitute a valid payment, it must have been unconditionally accepted as such by the insurer." In 44 C.J.S., Insurance, Section 270, the text states that "* * * the payment or agreement to pay the premium by insured is a condition precedent to, or at least concurrent with, the assuming of any liability by the insurance company."

Nationwide, 153 W.Va. at 825, 172 S.E.2d at 712 (emphasis added). After considering all of the available authority, this Court concluded, "[i]n the absence of the payment of the premium which was to have been paid when the policy was delivered the policy was invalid from its inception and because of the nonpayment of the premium, which constituted lack of consideration, the policy did not at any time afford the assureds any coverage and, of course, was not in effect at the time of the automobile collision[.]" *Id.*, 153 W.Va. at 827, 172 S.E.2d at 713.

More recently, in the case of American Hardware Mutual Ins. Co. v. BIM, Inc., 885 F.2d 132 (4th Cir. 1989), the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit, applying West Virginia law, reached the same conclusion. In American Hardware, the court considered an appeal from summary judgment entered against an applicant for insurance in a declaratory judgment action instituted by an insurance company. The insurance company sought to establish non-coverage with respect to a fire loss under a binder issued by its agent on the ground that the applicant's tender of a worthless premium check precluded coverage. The insurer argued that "any prospective coverage

was void *ab initio*, inasmuch as the dishonor of [the applicant's] deposit check amounted to a 'failure of consideration.'" *Id.*, 885 F.2d at 135. In addressing the question of whether the tender of a worthless premium deposit check presumptively voided *ab initio* all coverage under the binder, the court discussed the implications of non-payment of premiums due to a dishonored check in the context of both insurance policies and binders. With respect to both scenarios, the court concluded that under West Virginia law, "where the insurer has required a premium as consideration, the insured's tender of a worthless check in satisfaction of the resulting 'condition precedent' would render any apparent coverage void *ab initio*." *Id.*, 885 F.2d at 137.

In the instant case, the insurer explicitly required payment of the initial premium as a mandatory prerequisite to formation of an insurance contract. The check tendered by Conley in an attempt to pay the initial premium was dishonored. As a result, under clear West Virginia judicial precedent, no policy of insurance was ever issued and, therefore, no notice of cancellation was appropriate or required. Accordingly, the decision of the circuit court to the contrary is in error and should be reversed.

B. West Virginia Should Continue to Follow the National Trend and Reaffirm That the Tender of a Worthless Check Does Not Constitute Payment of an Insurance Premium and Is Not Consideration for Insurance Coverage

Courts from other jurisdictions have also addressed the question of the effect of attempted payment of an initial insurance premium with a subsequently dishonored check, and have uniformly reached the same conclusion as West Virginia's courts. For example, in Johnson v. Dairyland Ins. Co., 398 So. 2d 317 (Ala. Civ. App. 1981), the applicant paid a premium for an automobile insurance policy with a check which was returned for insufficient funds. The insurance company informed the applicant that no insurance coverage had been extended as a result of the

dishonored check, and the applicant brought suit to obtain coverage. The Alabama Court of Civil Appeals held that payment of the insurance premium was a condition precedent to an enforceable contract of insurance. *Id.*, 398 So. 2d at 319. Since the applicant's check was returned, the applicant failed to satisfy the condition precedent and, therefore, no coverage existed. *Id.* The court rejected the applicant's argument that handing over the check itself constituted absolute payment of the premium, finding that, while parties may agree to consider a check as accepted as absolute payment and satisfaction of the premium, the party claiming such an agreement has the burden of proving an agreement to that effect. *Id.*

Similarly, in Statewide Ins. Corp. v. Dewar, 143 Ariz. 576, 694 P.2d 1190 (Ariz. App. 1983), the applicant applied for an automobile liability insurance policy and paid the entire policy premium with a check which was dishonored. The applicant was subsequently involved in an accident and the insurance company sought a declaratory judgment that, because no coverage existed, it was liable to neither the applicant nor the injured party. The Arizona appellate court held that the insurer was not required to provide liability coverage because the applicant's check, which was consideration for the coverage, was dishonored, therefore releasing the insurer from any liability.¹⁸ Interestingly, in reaching this conclusion, the Arizona court cited to the West Virginia case of Hare, *supra*, as persuasive authority.

¹⁸ Dewar was reversed by the Arizona Supreme Court in Statewide Insurance Corporation v. Dewar, 143 Ariz. 553, 694 P.2d 1167 (1984). The court held that coverage under a binder of insurance became effective in accordance with the terms contained therein, which did not condition the existence of coverage under the binder upon payment of the initial premium. However, the court noted that, while the insurer could not contend that no coverage had ever existed under the binder, the insurer could have, upon dishonor of the check given for the policy premium, refused the application for insurance and cancelled coverage under the binder, retaining the right to collect for any temporary coverage already extended under the binder.

Colorado courts have also found worthless premium checks to be insufficient consideration for insurance coverage. In Bolz v. Security Mutual Life Ins. Co., 721 P. 2d 1216 (Colo. App. 1986), a widow made a claim for life insurance benefits following her husband's suicide. The insurer denied the claim, explaining that the policy had lapsed due to dishonor of the premium check tendered by the husband prior to his death. The court affirmed the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of the insurer, ruling that the insurer had neither expressly nor impliedly accepted the check itself as absolute payment of the premium, *Id.*, 721 P. 2d at 1218, and that the insurer did not waive its right to forfeit the policy because the insurer was unaware of the dishonor of the check until after the husband's suicide. *Id.*, 721 P.2d at 1219.

Likewise, the Supreme Court of South Carolina held that a life insurance policy lapsed prior to the death of the insured, who had given the insurer a check for payment of an insurance premium, which check was twice dishonored. Burns v. Prudence Life Ins. Co., 243 S.C. 515, 134 S.E.2d 769 (S.C. 1964). The court explained the general rule that, absent an express or implied agreement to the contrary, a check does not constitute payment unless it produces payment in cash, the presumption being that the check is accepted on the condition that it be paid. The court concluded that in the insurance context, the taking of a check for an insurance premium is conditional upon payment of the check upon presentation. *Id.* Numerous other cases have held that a worthless check does not constitute payment of an insurance premium sufficient to serve as consideration for coverage.¹⁹

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