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

B. ARGUMENT

I. A Policy Was Issued To Ms. Conley.

National Auto asserts that payment of an insurance premium by a check which is dishonored does not serve as consideration for a policy of insurance policy. Hence, Appellant asserts that a policy of insurance was never issued to Ms. Conley, and, thus there was never an obligation to provide any notice of cancellation. However, an examination of the documents in this case indicate that in fact a policy was issued, and thus must have been canceled in accordance with West Virginia Code §33-6A, *et. seq.*

On August 30, 2001, a *Personal Automobile Policy Declarations* was generated by National Auto and sent to Ms. Conley. This Declarations Page set forth a description of the coverages, as well as defining the policy period for Ms. Conley as being from August 15, 2001 to February 15, 2002. This Declarations Page also contained the policy number for Ms. Conley, being West Virginia 1032724. National Auto also mailed a *Certificate of Insurance* to Ms. Conley, which stated the policy number and the effective dates of the coverage. The *Certificate of Insurance* advised Ms. Conley that she was being provided a Certificate of Insurance for "the above referenced automobile," and provided two **proof of insurance** cards for the insured vehicle. The Certificate of Insurance also advised Ms. Conley that her policy was recorded under the name and policy number shown on the card. The Certificate set forth an effective date of August 15, 2001. The Certificate of Insurance stated that an authorized West Virginia insurer certified that there was insurance in effect on Ms. Conley's 1995 Plymouth Neon, **effective as of August 15, 2001**. This Certificate of insurance would have sufficed to prove to any law enforcement officer or

official requesting proof of insurance that Ms. Conley's vehicle was insured and a policy had been issued as of August 15, 2001. The Certificate of Insurance was an unconditional binding of coverage which did not condition the provision of coverage or issuance of a policy on the actual receipt of payment of the premium. By issuing the certificate of insurance, National Auto extended coverage to Ms. Conley, that had to be canceled in accordance with the policy and West Virginia statute.

As further verification that an insurance policy was issued and coverage extended to Ms. Conley, National Auto sent to her a *Personal Automobile Premium Billing Statement*, again setting forth the above stated policy term and policy number. This billing statement advised Ms. Conley that in order to "avoid the termination of your coverages, your premium must be received in our Morgantown office prior to the due date." (emphasis added). This billing statement further advised Ms. Conley that if she would remit her premium payments in a timely basis, continuous coverage would be ensured. (emphasis added). This billing statement required payment to be received by September 9, 2001. By the use of language such as *termination of coverage* and *continuous coverage*, it is clear that National Auto had issued a policy and extended coverage to Ms. Conley. Certainly, to the ordinary person reading the documents, National Auto was not conditioning the provision of coverage on the happening of any event, such as eventual receipt of satisfactory payment.

The Declarations Page, Certificate of Insurance, and Premium Billing Statement establish that, in fact, a policy of insurance was issued by National Auto to Ms. Conley which was not contingent upon her check clearing the bank. Over two weeks after applying for insurance and giving the National Auto agent a check, National Auto provided

to Ms. Conley a policy number, effective coverage dates and a certificate of insurance as proof that she was insured. National Auto apparently did not present the check for payment prior to issuing the policy. It was only after the policy was issued, and upon learning of Ms. Conley's accident, that National Auto apparently learned that the check was dishonored. A reasonable assumption would be that had Ms. Conley not had an accident, National Auto would have simply required that Ms. Conley pay the premium to keep her insurance in force, effective as of August 15. National Auto had more than ample opportunity and time between Ms. Conley's application and its provision of documents verifying the issuance of a policy and coverage within which to verify that the check would be honored. Instead, National Auto chose to extend coverage to Ms. Conley, apparently before the check was ever presented for payment, and cannot, after the fact, rescind the coverage it extended.

The fact that National Auto issued a policy is also supported by its September 10, 2001 letter. In this letter, National Auto advised Ms. Conley that they had **rescinded** her policy. National Auto did not state that it declined to issue coverage, rather, it stated that the policy was being rescinded. By letter dated September 11, 2001, National Auto again informed Ms. Conley that her policy had been **rescinded**. "Rescind" is defined in Merriam-Webster's as "to cancel, take back." *Merriam-Webster Online Dictionary*, 2005, <http://Merriam-Webster.com> (April 18, 2005). The statutory provision in West Virginia for a policy to be rescinded, *i.e.* canceled, is found at West Virginia Code §33-6A-1(e)(7). Having issued a policy, National Auto was obligated to cancel the coverage pursuant to statutory requirements. It undisputedly did not do so.

National Auto asserts that its application form expressly provides that if the premium remittance is not honored by the bank, no coverage would be bound. However, National Auto cannot contractually defeat the application of West Virginia Code §33-6A. National Auto chose to issue a policy to Ms. Conley, providing proof of insurance to her and a declaration of the coverages. Fifteen days elapsed between the application for insurance and the provision of documents by National Auto evidencing the issuance by it of a policy to Ms. Conley. Twenty-six days after the application was received, and after receiving notice of the accident, National Auto attempted to rescind its issuance of coverage. National Auto, after choosing to issue a policy and extend coverage, was obligated to provide ten (10) days notice of cancellation to the insured. As it failed to do so, coverage was in effect on the date of the accident.

II. West Virginia Code §33-6A Controls.

The Legislature is possessed with the power to alter the common law. *Perry v. Twentieth Street Bank*, 157 W.Va. 963, 206 S.E.2d 421 (1974). By virtue of the authority of Article VIII, Section 21 of the Constitution of West Virginia and West Virginia Code § 2-1-1, it is within the province of the legislature to enact statutes which abrogate the common law. *Id.* In 1967, our Legislature enacted West Virginia Code §33-6A, providing in pertinent part as follows:

Cancellation prohibited except for specified reasons; notice

Notwithstanding any of the provisions of this section to the contrary, no insurer may cancel a policy of automobile liability insurance without first giving the insured thirty days' notice of its intention to cancel:

Provided, That cancellation of the insurance policy by the insurer for failure of consideration to be paid by the insured upon initial issuance of the insurance policy is effective upon the expiration of ten days' notice of cancellation to the insured.

West Virginia Code § 33-6A-1(e)(7) (emphasis added).

Prior to the enactment of this Code Section, *Hare v. Connecticut Life Ins. Co.*, 173 S.E.2d 772 (1934) may have provided guidance on the issue presented in this case. *Hare* held that the premium was the price of the insurance, and if there was no payment, there was no insurance. *Hare v. Connecticut Life Ins. Co.*, 173 S.E.2d 772 (1934). However, *Hare* applied Pennsylvania law to the cancellation of a life insurance policy, and, hence, the guidance that it may have provided was minimal. Upon the enactment of West Virginia Code § 33-6A-1, *et. seq.*, *Hare* would have no relevance or application to the issue presented in this case. This Code section alters the application of common and/or contract law to the provision and cancellation of automobile insurance. In enacting this statute, the Legislature clearly contemplated that an automobile insurance company would issue an insurance policy to a new customer and subsequently there would be a failure of consideration, *i.e.* the check would be dishonored. In such instance, the insurer is required to provide ten (10) days' notice of cancellation to the insured, less than the thirty days required otherwise.

The Petitioner relies on *Nationwide Mutual Ins. Co. v. Smith*, 172 S.E.2d 708 (1970), to support its position that West Virginia law holds that attempted payment of an insurance premium by a subsequently dishonored check does not constitute payment sufficient to serve as consideration for a policy of insurance. The facts in *Nationwide* arose

prior to the enactment of the statute cited herein. When this Court decided *Nationwide*, West Virginia Code §33-6A-1(e)(7) did not govern the outcome. In fact, the Code section was not even mentioned in the opinion. Were the facts of the *Nationwide* case to be before this Court today, application of this statute would mandate that a different result be reached.

In *Nationwide*, a declaratory judgment action was filed in which the plaintiff, Nationwide, sought a determination of the rights and duties of the plaintiff and defendants, Glenn and Carolyn Smith. *Nationwide Mutual Ins. Co. v. Smith*, 172 S.E.2d 708, 709 (1970). Nationwide issued a policy to the Smiths on December 30, 1964, bearing policy number 91 290-872. *Id.* This policy afforded automobile liability coverage for a period of six months, from December 30, 1964 to June 30, 1965. *Id.* at 709-10. At the time the policy was issued, the Smiths made a payment by check in the amount of \$35.00. *Id.* at 710. The payment was refused by the bank for lack of sufficient funds. *Id.* On February 2, 1965, Nationwide informed the Smiths that the check had been returned, and advised them that it was keeping the insurance in force a few more days in order for the Smiths to send a valid payment. *Id.* Nationwide also informed the Smiths that the policy would be canceled as of February 18, 1965, unless payment was made before said date. *Id.* The check was submitted again to the bank, and again refused. *Id.* On March 18, 1965, Nationwide again informed the Smiths that the check had been returned, and again advised them that it was continuing the insurance in force in order for the Smiths to send a valid payment. *Id.* Nationwide finally gave notice to the Smiths that the policy would be canceled as of April 2, 1965, but if payment was received before that time, the cancellation would be withdrawn. *Id.*

On or about April 1, 1965, the Smiths were issued and delivered a second policy by Nationwide which was characterized as a transfer policy, bearing policy number 91 290-800. *Nationwide*, 172 S.E.2d at 710. That policy was to replace the original policy and be in force from April 1, 1965, to June 30, 1965, the termination date of the original policy. *Id.* at 710-11. No money was collected on this policy. *Id.* at 710. The Smiths were in an automobile accident on April 17, 1965. *Id.* at 711. Nationwide denied coverage under either policy. *Id.* The circuit court found that the second policy was valid and effective from the date of issuance and supported by valid consideration and not effectively canceled prior to the collision. *Id.* at 709. On appeal, Nationwide argued that the second policy was induced by fraud, came into existence by mutual mistake, that its validity was contingent upon the validity of the first policy which was canceled and became null and void, and that the first policy was canceled as of April 2, 1965, and not based upon valid consideration. *Id.* at 711. It was undisputed that no part of the premium for either policy had ever been paid. *Id.*

On appeal, this Court applied general common law regarding the delivery of a check in payment of indebtedness, and found that coverage was not in effect as the policy was invalid from its inception. *Id.* at 711-713. While *Nationwide* was not decided until 1970, the insurance issue arose in 1965, prior to the enactment of the statute on cancellation of insurance. As the issue in *Nationwide* arose before the enactment of West Virginia Code §33-6A, that Code Section did not govern the outcome and was not applied to the facts of the case. Had that Code section been applied, a different result would have been reached. Today, the application of common law as in *Nationwide* has been abrogated by the

enactment of West Virginia Code §33-6A, which clearly controls this situation. Clearly, in *Nationwide*, two different automobile insurance policies were issued, despite the fact that there was no consideration. In fact, Nationwide informed the Smiths on at least two occasions that they were keeping the insurance in force in order for the Smiths to send a valid payment. Were the facts of Nationwide to be presented to this Court today, this Court would apply West Virginia Code §33-6A, and find that while there was a failure of consideration, a policy was issued and there was not a proper cancellation.

A different result in *Nationwide* would also be reached not only due to the statutory enactments, but also with the application of *Conn v. Motorist Mutual Insurance Co.*, 439 S.E.2d 418 (W.Va. 1993), regarding notice of cancellation. In *Conn*, this Court found that notice which permits an insured an opportunity to keep the policy current by paying the premium is insufficient notice to cancel a policy. *Conn*, 439 S.E.2d at 423. This decision was based on the rule of law that a notice of cancellation of insurance must be clear, definite and certain. *Id.* at 421. Hence, this Court in *Conn* found that the notice of cancellation did not comply with West Virginia Code §33-6A-3, as it implied that upon the happening of a future event, that being the insured's failure to pay the premium by a date certain in the future, the policy would be canceled. *Id.* at 420-421.

Were the facts of *Nationwide* to be presented today, the application of West Virginia Code §33-6A-1 and 3, as well as *Conn*, would mandate the finding that the insurance company did not properly and effectively cancel the insurance. As *Nationwide* was not governed by Chapter Thirty-Three, Section Six A, and this case is, National Auto's reliance on this case is misplaced. *Hare* is inapplicable as it dealt with a life insurance

policy, not automobile insurance, applied Pennsylvania common law, and any application that it might arguably have been abrogated by the enactment of Chapter Thirty-Three Section Six A. The numerous out-of-jurisdiction cases cited by the Petitioner are irrelevant, as this matter is governed by and clearly answered by West Virginia Code § 33-6A-1.

Even if *Nationwide* were to govern the outcome of this case, the facts still establish that National Auto extended coverage and was bound to properly cancel it. In *Nationwide*, thus Court stated that in order for a worthless check to constitute valid payment, it must have been unconditionally accepted as such by the insurer. *Nationwide*, 172 S.E.2d at 712. In this case, National Auto accepted the Ms. Conley check as payment, and extended a policy and coverage apparently without requiring the check to be honored first. Hence, while the fine print in the application may have said that coverage would not be bound if the premium remittance was not honored by the bank, National Auto waived this provision by extending coverage and issuing certificates of insurance and a policy without receiving payment.

III. National Auto Did Not Provide Ten Days Notice of Cancellation.

West Virginia Code §33-6A-1 governs the cancellation of a policy by an insurer upon the initial issuance of the policy. This Code section quite clearly requires that the insurer provide ten days notice of a cancellation to the insured, even when there has been a failure of consideration to be paid by the insured upon the initial issuance of the policy. West Virginia Code §33-6A-1(e)(7). The National Auto insurance policy language tracks this statutory language, and in fact was amended to contain verbatim the cancellation language found in West Virginia Code §33-6A-1. Hence, under the plain language of the

statute and the National Auto Insurance policy, the cancellation of Ms. Conley's policy could only have been effective upon the expiration of ten days notice of cancellation, even if she failed to tender the initial consideration. Our Legislature apparently envisioned a scenario such as this, and permitted an insurer to be relieved of insuring the individual upon ten days notice if the initial premium is not paid, for any reason.

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